1994

Living Scriptures INC v. Michael John Kudlik : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Where a landlord routinely, and without objection, accepts past due payments and leads the tenant to believe that strict adherence to the payment schedule will not be required, the law requires the landlord to provide the tenant with a reasonable notice that it will insist upon strict performance. If the

⁴ After being informed by the Lessee's legal counsel that the Lessor's acceptance of these two delinquent payments constituted a waiver of its right to terminate the Lease Agreement (Tr. of September 8, 1993 Hearing at 16), the Lessor returned the rent check to the Lessee and instructed its lease payment agent to delete from its records any indication that the lease payments had been accepted. (Trial Exh. 6, Appendix E hereto.)

landlord fails to provide and conform to such notice, the landlord waives or is estopped from asserting its right to insist upon strict performance of the lease agreement.

In this case, the Lessor's repeated four-month acceptance without objection of the Lessee's delinquent rent payments, the Lessor's acceptance of a partial, delinquent rent payment after notifying the Lessee that full payment was required "immediately," and the Lessor's initial acceptance of rent after it filed its Complaint to evict the Lessee from the Property, constitutes a waiver of the Lessor's right to hold the Lessee to strict performance of the Lease Agreement. Under these circumstances, the trial court erred in entering judgment against the Lessee for unpaid rent, treble damages, attorney's fees, and forfeiture of the Lease Agreement.

VI.

ARGUMENT

- A. THE LESSOR'S REPEATED ACCEPTANCE OF DELINQUENT RENT, WITHOUT PROTEST, CONSTITUTES A WAIVER OR ESTOPPEL OF ITS CONTRACTUAL RIGHT TO DECLARE AN IMMEDIATE DEFAULT BASED ON THE LESSEE'S FAILURE TO CONFORM TO THE RENT PAYMENT SCHEDULE IN THE LEASE AGREEMENT.

It is settled law that "[t]he landlord may waive his right to the prompt payment of rent by acting in such a manner that the tenant is led to believe that a later date of payment than that specified in the lease is acceptable." Restatement of Property

(Second), §12.1, comment c (1977). Accord, 2 Powell on Real Property, §228[3](i) (1990) ("A landlord may waive his right to insist upon prompt payment of rent, usually by accepting late payments, without protest, over one or more payment periods."); 49 AmJur 2d, Landlord & Tenant, §1065 (1990) ("Thus if a lessor by his continuous course of conduct has led the lessee to believe that prompt payment will not be insisted upon, he will not be permitted without notice of his intention to do so to enforce a forfeiture for failure to make prompt payment, for the lessor should not be permitted to entrap the tenant.")

The Utah Supreme Court has long recognized that a creditor who has induced its debtor to believe that strict performance will not be required, must provide the debtor with reasonable, advance notice before it can insist on strict performance. In Pacific Development Co. v. Stewart, 195 P.2d 748, 750 (Utah 1948), the court stated:

There is no question that the acceptance by the seller of buyers' past due payments and its other conduct toward the buyers leading the latter to believe that strict performance would not be required by the seller, imposes upon the seller the duty of giving to the buyer a reasonable notice before it may insist on strict performance by the buyers.

In other words, a "seller who waives strict compliance with [a contract's] payment schedule . . . must give notice and a reasonable time to perform before thereafter strictly enforcing the

time requirement." Adair v. Bracken, 745 P.2d 849, 853 (Utah App. 1987) (summarizing Tanner v. Baadsgaard, 612 P.2d 345 (Utah 1980)).

The rationale for this principle is salutary:

The requirement of notice after the receipt of overdue payments without objection is based upon the equitable consideration that by his conduct the vendor has led the vendee into the belief that the former will continue to waive the strict performance of the contract.

Pacific Development Co. v. Stewart, 195 P.2d at 750 (quoting Brown v. Chowchilla Land Co., 210 P. 424, 427 (Cal. 1922) (emphasis in original)).

Where the creditor has accepted late payments and has made contradictory demands this ". . . would leave some doubt in the [debtor's] minds as to what the [creditor] expected and lead the [debtor] to believe that strict compliance with the contract is not required, estop[ping] [the creditor] from effecting a forfeiture of the debtor's interest." Grow v. Marwick Development, Inc., 621 P.2d 1249, 1252 (Utah 1980). Thus, "definite notice that [the debtor] must pay up, or forfeit the payments he had made and his rights under the contract," is required as a matter of fundamental "fairness." Morris v. Sykes, 624 P.2d 681, 684 (Utah 1981). The right of the debtor to receive a notice specifying that it has a reasonable time in which to cure its default is necessary because

"without this notice the defaulting [debtor] would not know what to do." Hansen v. Christensen, 545 P.2d 1152, 1154 (Utah 1976).⁵

In the final analysis, "a landlord seeking enforcement of a forfeiture must take care not to do anything which may be deemed an acknowledgement of a continuation of the tenancy. Any act done by a landlord knowing of a cause for forfeiture by his tenant, affirming the existence of the lease and recognizing the lessee as his tenant, is a waiver of such forfeiture." Woodland Theaters, Inc. v. ABC Intermountain Theaters, Inc., 560 P.2d 700, 702 (Utah 1977) (quoting 3A Thompson on Real Property §1328 (1989)). Thus, a lessor's post-default acceptance of rent constitutes a waiver of the lessor's right to forfeit the lease. Woodland Theaters, 560 P.2d at 702; Girard v. Appleby, 660 P.2d 245, 248 (Utah 1983); Minshew v. Chevron Oil Co., 575 P.2d 192, 194 (Utah 1978).

⁵ This is consistent with Bentley v. Potter, 694 P.2d 617, 620 (Utah 1984):

"When a lease provides that if a party to the lease is in default and the other party may terminate the lease after giving notice of the default, the notice must plainly indicate the nature of the default or breach and give reasonable notice that failure to cure the default within the time allowed may lead to termination."

Utah courts have also recognized that because ". . . forfeiture is a harsh remedy, clarity must be required before any notice will work such a result." Dang v. Cox Corp., 655 P.2d 658, 662 (Utah 1982). Accord, Russell v. Park City Corp., 506 P.2d 1274, 1276 (Utah 1973).

In this case, the Lessee undeniably was contractually required to make rent payments "in full and on time," by the first of each month. (Memorandum, ¶2.) Rather than strictly holding the Lessee to that obligation, however, the Lessor routinely accepted without objection delinquent rent payments. Indeed, during the four-month period immediately preceding the filing of its complaint, the Lessor accepted payments that were an average of 55 days past due and which were becoming increasingly delinquent with each passing month.

In early August 1993, the Lessor demanded that the Lessee ". . . bring things current immediately." (Tr. of September 20, 1993 Hearing at 5, 6.) The Lessor repeated this demand the following day, asserting that if full payment was not made, the Lessor would "begin [the] eviction process." (Tr. of September 20, 1993 Hearing at 6.) However, rather than enforcing its demand to require immediate strict performance, the Lessor did what it had repeatedly done during the preceding months: It accepted the Lessee's June rent payment on August 19, 1993. One day after doing so, however, it filed its Complaint. Eighteen days later, on September 7, 1993, it accepted (but subsequently "unaccepted")⁶ the

⁶ Although the Lessor purported to revoke its acceptance of this payment the day after it was made, it did so only after being advised by the Lessee's lawyer that its acceptance constituted a waiver of the Lessor's claims for back rent, treble damages and restitution. (Tr. of September 8, 1993 Hearing at 16.)


Lessee's payment of the then-delinquent July and August rent installments. Therefore, because of its refusal to accept the then-delinquent July and August rent payments in the amount of \$2,856, the Lessor obtained a judgment against the Lessee for unpaid and trebled rent of \$6,283.20, attorney's fees and costs of \$6,083.60, and an order extinguishing the Lease Agreement--and with it, the Lessor's substantial invested equity in the car wash Facility that it had operated on the Property.

CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in ruling that the Lessor did not waive, or was not estopped from asserting, its right to require strict performance in the Lessee's payment of rent. The court's Order of Restitution and Final Judgment should be vacated and judgment of no cause of action should be entered on the Lessor's Complaint.