1994

Living Scriptures v. Michael John Kudlik : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Kudlik's sole argument on appeal is that, as a consequence of LSI's acceptance of four late rental payments, LSI has waived, or should be estopped from asserting, its right to receive timely performance under the Lease and the Memorandum. Kudlik's argument is without merit for at least three reasons. First, the concept of waiver or estoppel by the acceptance of late payments is inapplicable where, as in this case, the parties have agreed in advance that such conduct would not constitute a waiver. In the case at hand, the parties agreed in the Memorandum that a waiver by either party of any breach was not to be construed as a consent by that party to any future breach by the other party.

Second, Kudlik has failed to meet his burden of proof of demonstrating the existence of either waiver or estoppel. With regard to waiver, Kudlik has failed to show that LSI's acceptance of a few late rental payments is sufficient, in light of the circumstances of the case, to support a reasonable finding that LSI voluntarily and intentionally relinquished its right to terminate the Lease upon Kudlik's continued failure to make timely payments thereunder. With regard to estoppel, Kudlik has failed to prove the existence of any of its elements. Specifically, Kudlik has

failed to prove (1) a statement, admission, act, or failure to act by LSI inconsistent with LSI's claim that LSI is entitled to terminate the Lease as a result of Kudlik's failure to make payments under the terms of the Lease and the Memorandum; (2) reasonable reliance on the part of Kudlik; and (3) an injury resulting from LSI's conduct.

Third, even if this Court were to find that LSI temporarily waived its right to receive timely payments under the Lease and the Memorandum, or should be estopped from asserting that right absent reasonable notice to Kudlik of its intent to require strict compliance with the payment terms of the Lease and the Memorandum, LSI gave Kudlik such notice. Following that notice, Kudlik neither paid the past-due amounts nor complied thereafter with the payment terms. Accordingly, Judge West's ruling must be affirmed.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Kudlik's Assertion of Waiver or Estoppel is Barred by the No-Waiver Provision in the Memorandum.

Although Kudlik correctly quotes the Restatement of Property for the proposition that "[t]he landlord may waive his right to the prompt payment of rent by acting in such a manner that the tenant is led to believe that a later date of payment than specified in the lease is acceptable," Brief of Appellant at 8 (quoting Restatement (2d) of Property, Landlord and Tenant, § 12.1, comment c. (1977) [hereinafter the Restatement]), Kudlik conveniently fails to tell this Court that the quoted statement is

predicated on the absence of a no-waiver provision in the agreement between the parties. Indeed, the sentence immediately following the one quoted by Kudlik provides: "A no-waiver provision in the lease preserves the landlord's right to the payment of the rent on the due date." Restatement § 12.1, comment c (emphasis added). The Restatement applies that principle in illustrations 2 and 4 to section 12.1.

Illustration 2 provides the general rule in the absence of a no-waiver provision in the Lease:

L leases to T for five years, rent to be paid in advance at the beginning of each month. The rent includes the payment of the previous month's utility charges, but the utility bill is regularly sent too late to be paid on the first of the month. After a few months, T, without an express agreement, begins paying his rent late enough in the month to include the utility bill. L accepts each late check without objection. L has waived the right to require prompt payment of the rent, and T is not in default if he continues his past practices. If, however, L gives T notice that the rent is to be thereafter paid on the first of the month and T fails to comply, he will be in default on his rent obligation. . . .

Id., comment c., Illustration 2.

Illustration 4 explains the effect of a no-waiver provision in the lease between the parties:⁹

⁹ Illustration 4 cross-references illustration 2, quoted above, and Illustration 3, which provides as follows:

L orally leases an apartment to T from week to week, rent to be paid in advance. For several months L calls at the apartment each Sunday and picks up the rent check. For three weeks L fails to pick up the checks, which are ready for him. The relevant statute provides that if rent is in arrears for fifteen days, whether demanded or not, the landlord may reenter or recover possession of the premises. T finds L and tenders

Assume that the lease in Illustration 2 or in Illustration 3 contains the following provision:

"The waiver of one breach of any term, condition, covenant, obligation, or agreement of this lease shall not be considered to be a waiver of that or any other term, condition, covenant, obligation, or agreement or of any subsequent breach thereof."

In such case T is in default in both Illustrations 2 and 3.

Id., comment c., Illustration 4 (emphasis added).

A number of courts have accepted the principle articulated in the Restatement regarding the effect of a no-waiver provision. The California Court of Appeals first relied on this principle in Brown v. Chowchilla Land Co., 210 P. 424 (Cal. Ct. App. 1922), a decision quoted approvingly by the Utah Supreme Court in Pacific Dev. Co. v. Stewart, 113 Utah 403, 195 P.2d 748 (1948).¹⁰

In Brown, the parties entered into a series of three separate contracts for the purchase of real estate (the "Contracts") over a term of seven and one-half years. Brown, 210 P. at 424. The Contracts provided for monthly payments of principal and interest

the checks to him. L refuses to take the checks, and declares the lease is terminated. T is not in default, because the conduct of the parties established a time and manner of payment which were followed by T.

Id. Illustration 3.

¹⁰ The lease in Stewart did not contain a no-waiver provision. Therefore, the Utah Supreme Court did not have occasion specifically to consider the effect of such a provision. The Court's opinion is consistent, however, with the conclusion that such a provision would have been given effect.

on the first day of each month and (as with the Lease in this appeal) stated that time was of the essence. Id. The Contracts also specified that the purchaser's rights in and to the property would terminate upon breach and gave the seller the option to declare a forfeiture of all monies paid by the purchaser upon a default in the payment of any sums due under the Contracts. Id. Finally, the Contracts each contained the following no-waiver provision:

The waiver by the seller of any breach of any covenant or agreement herein contained on the part of the purchaser shall not be deemed or held to be a waiver of any subsequent or other breach of said covenant or agreement, nor a waiver of any other covenant or agreement herein contained.

Id. at 425.

The purchaser made the first seven payments on time but then made payments under the Contracts sporadically and in varying amounts. Id. The seller accepted the purchaser's payments for nearly five and one-half years without objection but then sent the purchaser a notice cancelling the contracts because of the purchaser's failure to make payments on time. Id. The purchaser brought an action for specific performance of the Contracts, arguing that the seller had waived its rights to terminate the Contracts without notice and an opportunity to cure by its extended practice of accepting late payments. Id. The trial court disagreed, holding for the seller, and the purchaser appealed.

Although acknowledging the general rule that a vendor may waive strict compliance with the payment terms of a contract by accepting overdue payments without objection, the California Court of Appeals held the principle inapplicable where the parties had agreed beforehand that such conduct would not constitute a waiver. Id. at 427. The court stated:

The requirement of notice after the receipt of overdue payments without objection is based upon the equitable consideration that by his conduct the vendor has led the vendee into the belief that the former will continue to waive the strict performance of the contract. The principle of equitable estoppel is involved. But the reason for the rule does not exist where the parties have expressly agreed that such waiver shall not affect any subsequent breach or relinquish the right of the vendor to insist thereafter upon strict observance with the terms of the contract.

Id. The court found that the no-waiver provision in the Contracts constituted an adequate expression of the parties' intent that the acceptance of overdue payments was to be regarded as an indulgence to the purchaser, and not as a waiver of the seller's right to timely performance of the Contracts.¹¹ Id. Accordingly, the court held that the seller retained the right to declare a forfeiture

¹¹ Specifically, the court stated:

The parties could not fail to understand from the particular covenant in question that the acceptance of any overdue payment or payments was to be regarded as an indulgence to the vendee, but as to the future the whole contract remained in full force and effect and rendered the vendee subject to the penalty of forfeiture for any default thereafter.

Id. The court upheld the parties' legal right to agree to such a provision. Id.

upon the purchaser's failure to make timely payments, without providing the purchaser with advance notice of its intent to strictly enforce the payment terms of the Contracts. Id.

The California Court of Appeals reached the same result in the context of a commercial lease in Karbelnig v. Brothwell, 53 Cal. Rptr. 335 (Cal. Ct. App. 1966). In Karbelnig, the parties entered into a written lease for the rental of certain real property for a term of fifteen years. Id. at 336. The lease contained both a provision prohibiting assignment by the tenant without the consent of the landlord and a no-waiver provision.¹² Id. Despite the existence of the provision prohibiting assignment, the tenant assigned its interest in the lease without the consent of the landlord. Id. at 336-38. Upon being notified of the assignment, the landlord accepted rental payments from the assignees, but notified the tenant that such acceptance should not be construed as an acceptance or waiver to the assignment. Id. at 338. The trial

¹² The no-waiver clause provided:

The waiver by Lessor of any breach of any term, covenant, or condition herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term, covenant, or condition or any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, covenant, or condition herein contained. The subsequent acceptance of rent hereunder by Lessor shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding breach by Lessee of any term, covenant, or condition of this lease, other than the failure of Lessee to pay the particular rental so accepted, regardless of Lessor's knowledge of such preceding breach at the time of acceptance of such rent.

Id.

court held such conduct constituted a waiver of the breach. Id. at 339.

The California Court of Appeals reversed. Id. at 340. The court began with the proposition that "[w]aiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right after knowledge of the facts." Id. The court then noted that the intent to waive a breach normally may be inferred by the acceptance of rental payments after learning of the breach. Id. Looking to decisions from other jurisdictions, however, the court held that such an inference is rebutted where the parties agreed in the lease that the acceptance of rent is without prejudice to the rights of the Landlord.¹³ Id. The court explained:

The express agreement on the part of the lessees, which was binding upon their assignees, to the effect that the acceptance of rent by the lessor after knowledge of the breach of a covenant should not be deemed a waiver of such breach, is tantamount to a relinquishment of the right of the lessees and their assignees, to assert a waiver of [sic] estoppel, unless there has been an express waiver on the part of the lessor of the right reserved, or there has been conduct on the part of the lessor, other than the acceptance of rent, upon which the lessees or their assignees could lawfully assert an estoppel to declare a forfeiture.

Id. at 341 (emphasis added).

In the case at hand, the parties agreed that a waiver by either party of a breach by the other shall not be construed as a waiver

¹³ The court distinguished other California decisions that found waiver as the result of the acceptance of rent, noting that none of those decisions involved the existence of a no-waiver provision in the leases at issue. Id. at 340.

of any other or subsequent breach. Paragraph 4.d. of the Memorandum specifically provides:

Any waiver by any party hereto of any breach of any kind or character whatsoever by any other party, whether such waiver be direct or implied, shall not be construed as a continuing waiver of, or consent to, any subsequent breach of this Agreement on the part of the other party.

Any inference of intent by LSI to waive its right to timely performance of the Lease and the Memorandum is precluded by the existence of the no-waiver provision in the parties' agreement.¹⁴ By agreeing to such a provision, Kudlik voluntarily and intentionally relinquished his right to assert a waiver or estoppel against LSI based on the LSI's acceptance of past-due payments. LSI relied on the above no-waiver provision in an attempt to work with Kudlik instead of immediately terminating the Lease and acting to evict him, which right was specifically granted to LSI in Paragraph 3 of the Memorandum. In these circumstances, Kudlik is precluded as a matter of law from arguing waiver and estoppel against LSI. Judge West's ruling must therefore be affirmed.

B. Kudlik Has Failed to Meet His Burden of Demonstrating Either Waiver or Estoppel.

Even assuming, arguendo, that this Court were to find that Kudlik is not precluded from arguing waiver or estoppel by his

¹⁴ Moreover, as discussed below, intent to waive its right to timely payment may not be inferred against LSI as a result of its acceptance of a few late rental payments, particularly where LSI urged Kudlik to make his payments on time and promptly acted to enforce its rights when it became clear that Kudlik was unwilling or unable to do so.

express agreement to the no-waiver provision, Judge West's ruling must be affirmed because Kudlik failed to meet his burden of proof of demonstrating either waiver or estoppel. The record overwhelmingly supports Judge West's ruling that neither doctrine precludes LSI from asserting its rights under the Lease and the Memorandum.

1. The Record Clearly Demonstrates that LSI Did Not Waive its Right to Insist on Timely Payments Under the Lease and the Memorandum.

Waiver is "the intentional relinquishment of a known right." Soters v. Deseret Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 857 P.2d 935, 939-40 (Utah 1993) (quoting Rees v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 808 P.2d 1069, 1073 (Utah 1991)). As such, "[w]aiver requires three elements: (1) an existing right, benefit, or advantage; (2) knowledge of its existence; and (3) an intention to relinquish the right." Id. at 940. Because waiver is an affirmative defense, the burden of demonstrating each of its elements, including intent, lies with the party asserting it--Kudlik. See Utah R. Civ. P. 8(c); Bezner v. Continental Dry Cleaners, Inc., 548 P.2d 898, 901 (Utah 1976). Kudlik must show from the evidence that the relinquishment was "clearly intended." Soters, 857 P.2d at 941. In the case at hand, Kudlik failed to sustain his burden of showing the existence of waiver. Judge West's ruling must, therefore, be affirmed.

Kudlik's sole evidence in support of his waiver argument is LSI's acceptance of four late rental payments. Conspicuously

absent from Kudlik's argument, however (and which Kudlik would like this Court to ignore), are the agreement between the parties, the context in which the four payments were accepted, the communications between the parties, and all of LSI's actions to enforce the Lease and the Memorandum.

In January of 1993, when Kudlik first began to slip into a practice of making late payments, LSI acted immediately to get Kudlik back on track and to emphasize that LSI insisted on timely payments under the Lease. To that end, LSI and Kudlik entered into negotiations to cure the past defaults. The parties' agreement was memorialized in the Memorandum. The Memorandum required payment of all past-due amounts according to a strict payment schedule and set forth in no uncertain terms that LSI insisted on strict compliance with the payment terms of the Lease. Accordingly, Paragraph 1 of the Memorandum provides, in relevant part:

Any payment hereunder or under the Lease which is not received by LSI on or before its due date shall not be timely made and shall constitute a breach.

(R. 182 ¶ 1 (emphasis added).) Similarly, Paragraph 2 of the Memorandum provides, in relevant part:

Kudlik shall make all other payments which are or become owed under the Lease in full and on time.

(Id. at ¶ 2 (emphasis added).)

From the time the parties entered into the Memorandum until the commencement of this action, LSI's actions were consistent with its intent to require strict compliance with the payment terms of the

Lease and the Memorandum. During the first few months following the execution of the Memorandum, LSI continually "bird-dogged" Kudlik to try to get him to honor his agreement. (Tr. of September 8, 1993 Hearing at 7.) It soon became clear to LSI, however, that they would have to resort to legal action to persuade Kudlik to meet his payment obligations. At that point, LSI contacted its attorney, who promptly called Kudlik, on two separate occasions, to demand that he immediately bring his payments current and thereafter comply strictly with the payment terms of the Lease and the Memorandum. (R. 93; Tr. of September 8, 1993 Hearing at 7-8; Tr. of September 20, 1993 Hearing at 25.) On August 20, 1993, after no response from Kudlik, LSI served Kudlik with a Notice to Quit. (R. 93; Tr. of September 8, 1993 Hearing at 8; Tr. of September 20, 1993 Hearing at 26.) Three days later, LSI served Kudlik with a second Notice to Quit.¹⁵ (R. 93; Tr. of September 8, 1993 Hearing at 8.) Kudlik did not respond to either Notice to Quit, leaving LSI with no alternative but to commence this action. (R. 93; Tr. of September 8, 1993 Hearing at 8.)

As the above actions show, LSI did not silently accept Kudlik's late payments. Instead, LSI insisted Kudlik make timely payments,

¹⁵ After serving the Notices to Quit, LSI learned that Kudlik made a partial payment to Escrow Specialists on August 19, 1993 of only one month's rent, omitting the July and August rent then past due, as well as the late fees, interest, and attorney's fees, which he was obligated to pay under the Lease and the Memorandum. (R. 197.) LSI accepted this partial payment in mitigation of its damages.

and each time Kudlik refused, LSI escalated its remedies, culminating in this lawsuit. The entire process, from Kudlik's first late payment following his execution of the Memorandum to LSI's filing of this action, took only a little over six months. LSI gave Kudlik no false assurances that he could continue to flout his obligations. Instead, every communication between the parties during this time reiterated LSI's insistence that Kudlik make his payments on time.¹⁶

¹⁶ Each of the cases cited by Kudlik that found a waiver are factually inapplicable to this case. For example, in Pacific Dev. Co. v. Stewart, 113 Utah 403, 195 P.2d 748 (1948), the seller accepted late payments from the purchasers over a period of approximately two years, without any objection, all the while assuring the purchasers that "no forfeiture of their rights was at that time contemplated, but that they should 'do the best you can' or they should catch it up as fast as they could." Id. at 749. Similarly, in Morris v. Sykes, 624 P.2d 681 (Utah 1981), the parties were negotiating a reinstatement of the contract up to the time of unilateral termination by sellers, id. at 682-84, and in Tanner v. Baadsgaard, 612 P.2d 345 (Utah 1980), the seller and purchaser had continually communicated regarding the purchaser's anticipated purchase of the property up to the point when the seller informed the purchaser, for the first time, that he had arranged the sale of the property to another. Id. at 346-47.

Grow v. Marwick Dev., Inc., 621 P.2d 1249 (Utah 1980), did not involve the acceptance of late payments, but holds merely that where a seller under a real estate contract sent the purchaser two notices of default and a notice of forfeiture, to which the purchaser did not respond, and thereafter sent a subsequent notice of default giving the purchasers 15 days to cure, the seller's latter notice controlled. Id. at 1251-52. Similarly, Hansen v. Christensen, 545 P.2d 1152 (Utah 1976), did not involve the acceptance of late payments, but rather holds that where a real estate sales contract offered the seller several alternative options upon default, none of which were self-executing, the purchaser is entitled to believe the contract continues in force until the seller elects a remedy and notifies the purchaser of the election. Id. at 1154. Finally, the cases of Girard v. Appleby, 660 P.2d 245, 248-49 (Utah 1983), Minshaw v. Chevron Oil Co., 575 P.2d 192, 194-95 (Utah 1978), and Woodland Theatres, Inc. v. ABC

The record is clear in the case at hand that LSI acted in accordance with the parties' agreement that past waivers would not be construed as a continuing waiver or consent to a future breach and attempted to work with Kudlik instead of immediately terminating the Lease. When, after a reasonable period of time, those efforts proved ineffective, LSI acted promptly to enforce its rights. The record overwhelmingly supports Judge West's ruling that LSI did not intentionally waive its right to insist on strict compliance with the payment terms of the Lease and the Memorandum. LSI respectfully requests that this Court affirm Judge West's ruling.

2. Kudlik Has Failed to Meet His Burden of Demonstrating Estoppel.

Like waiver, estoppel is an affirmative defense. See Utah R. Civ. P. 8(c). As such, Kudlik bears the entire burden of demonstrating the existence of each of its elements. Corporation Nine v. Taylor, 30 Utah 2d 47, 513 P.2d 417, 420 (1973). Kudlik has failed to meet his burden as to this affirmative defense.

Whereas waiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right, estoppel is a doctrine that precludes parties from asserting

Intermountain Theatres, Inc., 560 P.2d 700, 701-02 (Utah 1977), all hold merely that a party may not both declare a forfeiture of a lease and, at the same time, continue to accept rental payments during the period following the declaration of forfeiture. This is so despite the landlord's attempt to alter the rule by a unilateral declaration that the acceptance of rent does not constitute a waiver. See Girard, 660 P.2d at 248-49; Woodland Theatres, Inc., 560 P.2d at 701.

their rights where their actions or conduct would render it inequitable for them to do so. Hunter v. Hunter, 669 P.2d 430, 432 (Utah 1983). Estoppel requires proof of the following three elements:

(i) a statement, admission, act, or failure to act by one party inconsistent with a claim later asserted; (ii) reasonable action or inaction by the other party taken or not taken on the basis of the first party's statement, admission, act, or failure to act; and (iii) injury to the second party that would result from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate such statement, admission, act, or failure to act.

CECO v. Concrete Specialists, Inc., 772 P.2d 967, 969-70 (Utah 1989). Kudlik has failed to prove any of these elements.

First, Kudlik has failed to show a statement, admission, act, or failure to act on the part of LSI that is inconsistent with LSI's insistence on compliance with the payment terms of the Lease and the Memorandum. Kudlik has made no allegation and offered no evidence that LSI expressly stated that it would not insist on compliance with those terms or that LSI made any admission contrary to such insistence. Rather, Kudlik argues that LSI's mere acceptance of four late rental payments is inconsistent with its present assertion of the right to terminate the Lease based on Kudlik's continued failure to timely make subsequent payments. LSI's actions are completely consistent with such an assertion.

As discussed above, during the time period in question, LSI attempted time and again to get Kudlik to make timely rental payments. As each attempt failed, LSI escalated its actions, finally bringing this lawsuit. LSI in no way misled Kudlik into

believing that LSI would not act to terminate the Lease in the event Kudlik continued to ignore his payment obligations. To the contrary, LSI insisted, at every juncture, that Kudlik comply with those provisions.

Second, Kudlik has failed to offer any evidence whatsoever that he actually relied on any actions of LSI. Kudlik failed to even proffer evidence that he could have made the rental payments on time, but chose not to based on LSI's acceptance of four late payments. Moreover, even assuming for the sake of argument that Kudlik did in fact rely on LSI's acceptance of those four late payments, Kudlik has failed to demonstrate that such claimed reliance was reasonable in light of the no-waiver provision in the Memorandum and LSI's continual "bird-dogging" efforts. As noted above, Kudlik expressly agreed in the Memorandum that a waiver by LSI of any past breach would not constitute a waiver of any future breach. Kudlik makes no allegation that the parties waived that provision, either expressly or by any conduct other than that which the parties expressly agreed would not constitute a waiver. Kudlik's claimed reliance on LSI's temporary forbearance, therefore, was not reasonable, even if actual.

Finally, Kudlik has failed to demonstrate that his claimed injury resulted from his purported reliance on LSI's waiver of past overdue payments. Specifically, as noted above, Kudlik failed to proffer any evidence to the trial court that he could have made the rent payments on time in the absence of any such reliance. In

light of such failure, and of Kudlik's failure to establish the existence of the other elements of estoppel, Kudlik's claim of estoppel must fail. Judge West's ruling must therefore be affirmed.

C. Even if LSI Temporarily Waived its Right to Timely Payment Under the Lease and the Memorandum, Which LSI Did Not, LSI Gave Kudlik Reasonable Notice of its Intent to Require Compliance with Those Terms in the Future.

Kudlik argues, without any foundation in fact, that "[w]here a landlord routinely, and without objection, accepts past due payments and leads the tenant to believe that strict adherence to the payment schedule will not be required, the law requires the landlord to provide the tenant with reasonable notice that it will insist on strict performance." Brief of Appellant at 7. Even assuming the validity of that statement and its applicability to the case at hand, however, Kudlik has no reason to complain in the present case because LSI did not routinely accept late payments without objection and LSI gave Kudlik reasonable notice of its intent to require strict compliance with the Lease and the Memorandum.¹⁷

¹⁷ As discussed above, LSI's acceptance of four late payments was far from a "routine" practice, and the acceptance was not "without objection." During the period of these four payments, LSI was continually "bird-dogging" Kudlik to bring his payments current and to thereafter make them in a timely manner. Furthermore, in light of the no-waiver provision agreed to by the parties, LSI's conduct could not reasonably be construed as "leading the tenant to believe" that strict compliance with the payment terms would not be required.

LSI accepted the last rental payment on August 19, 1993, leaving at least two months of rental payments past due.¹⁸ The following day, and again on August 23, 1993, LSI caused a three-day Notice to Quit to be served on Kudlik. Kudlik did not comply with either Notice, thereby forcing LSI to file this action on August 27, 1993.

On September 2 and 4, 1993, LSI served Kudlik with a Notice of Filing of Possession Bond and of Remedies Available to Defendant, which included the option of full payment within 3 days after service. Kudlik did not choose that option, but instead requested a hearing. At the September 8, 1993 hearing, however, LSI's attorney indicated LSI's continued willingness to allow Kudlik to cure his defaults, if done so within the time-frame set forth in the unlawful detainer statute. (Tr. of September 8, 1993 Hearing at 10-11.) LSI's attorney suggested payment by the end of the following day. (Id.) Kudlik's attorney, however, requested Kudlik

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